HUNGARIAN UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURE AND LIFE SCIENCES FACULTY OF HORTICULTURAL SCIENCE BUDAPEST

EVALUATION OF BASIL SPECIFIC SSR MARKERS

Vu Phan Thien Nga

MSc in Agricultural Biotechnology (Plant)

Made at the Department of Plant Biotechnology

Institute for Genetics and Biotechnology

Supervisor(s): Dr. Zsuzsanna György

Reviewers:

2023, Budapest

Dr. Attila Hegedűs

Dr. Zsuzsanna György

Head of Department

Supervisor

CONTENTS

| USED ABBREVATIONS1 |
|--|
| AFLP: Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism1 |
| 1. INTRODUCTION |
| 2. LITERATURE REVIEW |
| 2.1. Ocimum sp |
| 2.1.1. Origin and distribution of <i>Ocimum sp.</i> |
| 2.1.2. Traditional use of <i>Ocimum sp.</i> |
| 2.1.3. Cultivation of basil |
| 2.1.4. Ocimum sp. in Vietnam |
| 2.1.5. Taxonomy |
| 2.1.6. Morphological description7 |
| 2.1.7. Chemical composition |
| 2.2. Genetic diversity assessment |
| 2.2.1. Morphological characterization |
| 2.2.2. Biochemical analysis |
| 2.2.3. Molecular markers analysis12 |
| 2.2.4. SSR marker |
| 2.2.5. SSR markers used in genetic diversity analysis of Ocimum sp |
| 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS 16 |
| 3.1. Plant materials |
| 3.2. DNA extraction |
| 3.3. SSR primers |
| 3.4. PCR (Polymerase Chain Reaction)16 |
| 3.5. Electrophoresis |
| 3.6. Fragment length analysis |
| 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION |
| 4.1. Markers OB212, OB181, OB174, LAB008, LAB029, LAB030, LAB042 |
| 4.1.1. Markers OB212, OB181, OB174 |
| 4.1.2. Markers LAB008, LAB029, LAB030, LAB042 |
| 4.2. Marker OB158 |
| 4.3. Marker OBNJR3cn240 |
| 4.4. Markers OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30, OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg14525 |
| SUMMARY |

| ACKNOWLEDGEMENT | |
|-------------------------------------|---|
| REFERENCES | |
| DECLARATION | |
| STATEMENT | |
| STATEMENT | |
| STATEMENT ON CONSULTATION PRACTICES | |
| | 3 |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

USED ABBREVATIONS

AFLP: Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism
DMSO: Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid
EST: Expressed sequence tag
ISSR: Inter-Simple Sequence Repeat
NCBI: National Centre for Biotechnology Information
PCR: Polymerase Chain Reaction
RAPD: Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA
RFLP: Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism
SNP: Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
SSR: Simple Sequence Repeat
STR: Sequence Tagged Sites
TBE: Tris-Borate- EDTA
UTRs: Untranslated Regions
VNTP: Variable Number Tandem repeats

1. INTRODUCTION

Basil (Ocimum sp.) belonging the Laminaceae family is considered as the "king of the herbs" due to their wide distribution throughout the world. The aromatic leaves are used fresh or dried as a flavoring agent for foods, confectionery products, and beverages. Traditionally, the plant has been employed in folk medicine for its carminative, stimulant, and antispasmodic properties. The essential oil, mainly used in food industries and perfumery, also possesses antimicrobial activity (Makri and Kintzios, 2008). Most basil cultivars are cultivated in most of tropical and subtropical regions nowadays are members of O. basilicum (Simon et al., 1999). According to Nation et al. (1992), although readily self-pollinated, the outcrossing in Ocimum species is probably dominant because of the presence of pollinators. By exploitation of this flexibility in basil reproductive system, both natural and artificial selection are likely to make a large contribution in the morphological and volatile diversification of Ocimum genus (Pyne et al., 2018). Another factor complicating the taxonomy of basil varieties is the variation in the genome size and chromosome numbers in Ocimum genus. The basic chromosome number is x = 12 in O. basilicum is considered to be tetraploid $(2n = 4 \times = 48)$ and hexaploid is *O. americanum*. However, in the diploid *O*. tenuiflorum, the basic chromosome number is x=8 (Carović-Stanko et al., 2010; Rastogi et al., 2015). According to Pyne et al. (2018), it is obvious that there is taxonomical incongruences of different basil cultivars throughout the literature and among seed distributors. The inconsistency in the taxonomical study, unknown geographic origin and the phenotypic abundance of different are served a catalyst as the complication in classification among O.basilicum as well as the Ocimum genus.

The classification of *Ocimum* species based on morphological characters was firstly implemented by Paton et al. (1999). The construction of phylogenetic map based on the morphological features are used to demonstrate the diversity among *Ocimum* genus (Chutia et al., 2016; Chowdhury et al., 2017). In addition, the volatile composition is another important parameter for the classification of different basil chemotypes into different geographical origin (Varga et al., 2017). However, the reliance in two mentioned parameters above in plant breeding probably leading the false decision with regard to selection and crossing among different germplasm.

The molecular phylogenetic approaches in *Ocimum sp.* have been employed with different non-specific markers such as RAPD (Singh et al., 2004; De Masi et al., 2006)

and ISSR (Aghaei et al., 2012; Kumar et al., 2016). Although each of them is demonstrated to be an efficient tool for genetic diversity, there are some limitations in non-specific molecular markers. Therefore, SSRs are desirable markers for the evaluation genetic diversity due to their multi-allelic feature, polymorphism and wide distribution across the genome (Kalia et al., 2011). Expressed sequence tag (EST) derived SSRs (EST-SSRs) are particularly promising for the assessment of genetic variation owing to their location in coding regions and transferability across related germplasm (Ramchiary et al., 2011).

The objective of this study is to identify the suitable EST-SSRs that were already designed for *Ocimum sp.* and Laminaceae family in previous studies for the evaluation the genetic diversity of different basil cultivars.

2.LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Ocimum sp.

2.1.1. Origin and distribution of Ocimum sp.

Basil (scientific name: *Ocimum sp.*), one of the most wildly distributed herb throughout the world, is indigenous to Middle East and Southeast Asia (India, Pakistan, Iran, Thailand, and other countries) and can be observed growing wild in tropical and sub-tropical regions (Makri and Kintzios, 2008). Basil was probably brought to Europe and America in the sixteenth and in the seventeenth centuries from India (Sullivan, 2009).

According to Makri and Kintzios (2008), owing to its wide distribution, basil is often referred to as the "king of the herbs". Several name derivations and beliefs are associated with basil, but the common name basil is most likely came from the Greek words basileus meaning "king" or basilikon meaning "royal". The botanical name *Ocimum* is derived from the Greek meaning "to be fragrant". According to Khosla (1995), the three diversity centers of basil could be determined based on their geographic data including tropical and subtropical regions of Africa, tropical Asia and tropical part of America (Brazil). Among that, the tropical Africa is more likely to be the original centre since nearly two-thirds of known species was reported in this region.

2.1.2. Traditional use of Ocimum sp.

Basil is the herb commonly used in both Western and Eastern culinary arts (Italian, Thailand and Vietnam). *Ocimum sp*.is used as a folk medicine in many regions around the world due to their pharmacological metabolites present in it. In traditional medicine, *Ocimum* species has been used to get rid of headaches, coughs, diarrhea and kidney malfunctions as well as externally for insect stings, snake bites and skin infection (Dharsono et al., 2022). In terms of Eastern traditional medicines, *Ocimum basilicum* is used to prevent and treat diabetics and cardiovascular disorders by Uyghurs (a Turkic ethnic group) while for treating pimples on face by Indians. Regarding folk medicine in Western countries, basil is used as a therapy for aches and pains and as a sedative in Bulgaria and Spain, respectively. In addition, basil could be applied to aromatic and flavor industries, and for extending the food products shelf life (Purushothaman et al., 2018).

In addition, almost all accessions belonging to *Ocimum basilicum* are grown for culinary use while *Ocimum kilimandscharicum* and *Ocimum micranthemum* are mainly

used for medicinal purpose due to their strong scent. *Ocimum sanctum* and *Ocimum thrysiflora* are used in some religious ceremonies and as ornamental plants, respectively (Rindels, 1997).

2.1.3. Cultivation of basil

Basil may be planted directly from seed or transplanted, which grows as a perennial in tropical climates and as an annual in temperate regions. While other members of the Lamiaceace family grow well under competitive circumstances, basil prefers little competition for sun and water (Sullivan, 2009). It is essential for basil to be planted in full sun due to their cold intolerance. In addition, heavy nitrogen fertilization should be circumvented for basil since excessive nitrogen affects oil content and flavor. In terms of harvest, removing terminal growth could promote the four sets of true leaves to be retained on the plant. This encourages bushier growth and increased yield. For best foliage flavor, basil should be cut before flowering because leaf flavor changes after flowers open (Rindels, 1997).

2.1.4. Ocimum sp. in Vietnam

The basil cultivars in Vietnam mainly belong to *Ocimum gratissimum* L. and *Ocimum basilicum* L., which is widely grown as a kitchen herb, culinary herb and ornamental herb throughout the country. The researches on *Ocimum* species are limited, mainly focusing on the essential oil content in these species and the effect of purification methods on oil quality (Huong et al., 2020; Hai et al., 2022).

2.1.5. Taxonomy

Ocimum genus is a member of the Lamiaceace family, which comprises 30–160 annual and perennial herbs and shrubs native to the tropical and subtropical regions of Asia, Africa, and Central and South America (Kalita and Khan, 2013; Carovic-Stanko et al., 2010).

According to Kumar et al. (2018), the variability in morphological as well as chemical characteristics within the *Ocimum* genus, its taxonomy and phylogenetic relationships is still controversial. From the previous studies, seven species of *Ocimum* was identified including *O. basilicum* L., *O. americanum* L., *O. tenuiflorum* L., *O. gratissimum* L., *O. kilimandscharicum* Gurke, *O. filamentosum* Forssk. and *O. africanum* Lour (Suddee et al., 2005; Carovic-Stanko et al., 2010).

According to Simon et al. (1999), most of basil cultivars widely distributed in the market belong to the species *O. basilicum*. From the studies of Darrah (1980 and 1984), the *O. basilicum* cultivars was classified into seven types:

(1) tall slender types, which include the sweet basil group;

- (2) large-leafed, robust types, including 'Lettuce Leaf' also called 'Italian' basil;
- (3) dwarf types, which are short and small leafed, such as 'Bush' basil;
- (4) compact types, also described, *O. basilicum var. thyrsiflora*, commonly called 'Thai' basil;
- (5) purpurascens, the purple-colored basil types with traditional sweet basil flavor;
- (6) purple types such as 'Dark Opal', a possible hybrid between *O. basilicum* and *O. forskolei*, which has lobed-leaves, with a sweet basil plus clove-like aroma;
- (7) citriodorum types, which includes lemon-flavored basils.

Holy basil (scientific name: Ocimum sanctum L. Syn Ocimum tenuiflorum L.) is frequently known as Tulsi in the majority of languages in India, is a herb indigenous to the tropical and subtropical Asia and is nowadays brought and grown in other tropical areas (Baliga et al, 2013). 'Sanskrit' is considered as the origin of Tulsi, which means "matchless one" (Mondal et al., 2009). Thulasi, Vishnupriya are other names of Tulsi in some Indian languages. In traditional medicine, holy basil is known as "The Queen of Herbs," "The Incomparable One," and "The Mother Medicine of Nature" (Rastogi et al., 2015). According to Jamshidi and Cohen (2017), three common types of tulsi are properly identified and classified. Rama or Sri tulsi (green leaves) and Krishna or Shyama tulsi (purplish leaves) belonging to Ocimum tenuiflorum (or Ocimum sanctum L.) could be straightforwardly distinguished due to their botanical and phytochemical distinctions, while the third type of tulsi is Vana or wild/forest tulsi (scientific name: Ocimum gratissimum) possessing dark green leaves. There is a wide range of morphological and phytochemical characteristics even in secondary metabolites in different tulsi cultivars Compared to other Ocimum species, holy basil can be differentiated by the color of their yellow pollen, high levels of eugenol, and smaller chromosome number. Traditionally, Ocimum tenuiflorum and Ocimum gratissimum is used as the same medicinal cure of diseases despite of the existence of six times less DNA in Ocimum tenuiflorum.

Another type of Tulsi called 'Temperate Tulsi' (scientific name: *Ocimum africanum* Lour.) is a lemon scented basil, which is probably a hybrid of *O. basilicum*

L. and *O. americanum* L. (Paton and Putievsky, 1996). According to Uttar Pradesh State Biodiversity Board (UP), *O. americanum* (Syn. *O. canum*) and *Ocimum africanum* Lour. were commonly got confused by Indian scientists. There is difference in chemical compostion despite of similar appearance. That is why almost all experimental work referred *Ocimum africanum* Lour. as camphor rich chemotype *O. americanum* in India. Different Ocimum species cultivated in India are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Different Ocimum species from India. (A) Ocimum basilicum, (B) Ocimum americanum, (C) Ocimum kilimandscharicum, (D) Ocimum africanum, (E) Ocimum tenuiflorum var. Ram tulsi, (F) Ocimum adscendens, (G) Ocimum tenuiflorum var. Krishna tulsi, (H) Ocimum gratissimum, (I) Ocimum viride (Kumar et al., 2016).

2.1.6. Morphological description

According to Morales et al. (1993), a considerable variability of qualitative traits of *Ocimum* species can be observed through their height of plants, leaf size and color (from green to dark purple), flower color (white, red, lavender or purple), shape and as well as flowering time and aroma.

In terms of the height of plants, the variants belonging to *O. gratissimum* L. are the tallest ranging from 125 to 260 cm while the shortest is *O. americanum* L. (20-60 cm). The variants from *O.* -×- *africanum* Lour. and *O. basilicum* L. are 45-100 cm tall.

The height of accessions from *O. kilimandscharicum* Guerke. and *O. tenuiflorum* L. range from 60 to 120 cm and from 70 to 150 cm respectively (Chowdhury et al., 2017).

The leaf is generally simple, petiolate and the leaf blade is ovate with a rounded base, oblique, and the apex is acute. The size of basil leaf varied significantly from 3.5 cm² in *O. citriodorum* to around 45 cm² in *O. citriodorum*. The aerials of red and white is a prominent feature for differentiation of O. sanctum var. Rama and Shyama. Another noticeable parameter is the divergence in colors of stem and leaf, ranging from red, purple-green, and green among the different varieties of the O. basilicum L distributed in Iran. Singh (2012) used the number of leaf veins to show that O. americanum was described to have seven distinct veins, and the mid-vein reached the apex, while O. tenuiflorum has nine distinct veins, and the mid-vein does not reach the apex. The typical inflorescence of *Ocimum sp.* is a thyrse composed of opposite 1–3flowered cymes. The calyx is generally a short tube or funnel-shaped; it is straight or slightly curved. The corolla is formed forward (sometimes bent downwards), larger upper lip and a smaller lower one and declinate stamens. The posterior lip of the corolla consists of four lobes. There are always four stamens, an anterior pair that attaches near the corolla mouth and a posterior pair that connects close to the corolla base. The variability in size of basil seeds distinguished on the basis of the phenotype, cultivating location, and moisture content. The differences between varieties sometimes determined by their leaf color. O. citriodorum and O. basilicum var. Thyrsiflorum are generally discriminated through their complex polysaccharide structure since the unique mucilaginous characteristic of their seed after soaking in water (Tangpao et al., 2022). The morphological features of leaves from different Ocimum species are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Morphological characteristics of some *Ocimum* species; aerial part (a)inflorescence (b) upper (c) and lower (d) leaf surface of lemon basil (*O. citriodorum*),Thai basil (*O. basilicum* var. *thyrsiflorum*), red holy basil (*O. sanctum* var. Rama),

white holy basil (O. sanctum var. Shyama) and tree basil (O. gratissimum) (Tangpao et al., 2022).

2.1.7. Chemical composition

O. basilicum is mainly composed of about 20 compounds such as linalool, estragole, methyl eugenol, 1, 8-cineole, etc., which has been identified by GC-MS. Linalool (52.42%), methyl eugenol (18.74%), 1,8-cineol (5.61%) are the major compounds in *O. basilicum* which are isolated by the HPLC method. Myrcene, borneol and neral are the minor compounds present at 5%, 9%, 8% w/w respectively (Radulovic et al., 2013). Camphor, limonene, thymol, citral, α -linalool, β -linalool, estragole, are the monoterpene's of *O. basilicum*. Methyl eugenol makes up the largest percentage among different active compounds found in *Ocimum basilicum*. The existence of chichoric acid was identified in the fresh basil leaves (Lee et al., 2009). Crude extract of different botanical parts of basil are a rich source of polyphenol compounds. According to Phippen et al. (1998), the intensely purple pigment of the flowers is determined by the presence of anthocyanins. Fourteen different anthocyanins have been isolated among that 11 has cyanidin based pigments.

The essential oil of *Ocimum sp.* have been demonstrated antibacterial activities (Kaya et al., 2008; Moghaddam et al., 2014; Yamani et al., 2016). The methanol extract from *Ocimum basilicum* L. leaves showed antibacterial activities against six strains; namely *P. aeruginosa*, *Shigella* sp., *L. monocytogenes*, *S. aureus* and two different strains of *E. coli* (Kaya et al., 2008). According to Moghaddam et al. (2014), the essential oil had the highest antibacterial activity against *Brenneria nigrifluens*. Moreover, a moderate inhibitory effect was observed on *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *Lachrymans*, *Pantoea stewartii* subsp. *indologenes*, *Ralstonia solanacearum*, *Rhodococcus fascians* and Xanthomonas citri. The oils of *Ocimum tenuiflorum*, at concentrations of 4.5 and 2.25% completely inhibited the growth of *Staphylococcus aureus* (including MRSA) and *Escherichia coli*, while the same concentrations only partly inhibited the growth of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Yamani et al., 2016).

The antifungal properties of basil has been the subject of many studies. Balakumar et al. (2011) showed that the leaf extracts of *Ocimum sanctum* has inhibitory effect on a wide range of dermatophytic fungi. According to Abou El-Soud et al. (2015), the oil concentration of *Ocimum basilicum* L. at 1000 ppm showed complete inhibitory effect on *Aspergillus flavus*, whereas all of the concentrations tested (500, 750 and 1000 ppm) significantly inhibited the aflatoxin B1 production.

In addition, extracts of *Ocimum sp.* was demonstrated to markedly inhibit HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and platelet aggregation (Yamasaki et al., 1998).

2.2. Genetic diversity assessment

Genetic diversity is a part of biological diversity, which is referred to as any variation of genetic materials (nucleotides, genes, chromosomes, or genomes) in all organisms in the ecosystem that they occur at a given time (Ramanatha and Hodgkin, 2002; Fu, 2015).

A variety of laboratory-based techniques such as allozyme or DNA analysis is used to assess the genetic diversity within and between populations, which measure molecular levels of variation directly. Genetic diversity may be assessed through morphological, and biochemical characterization and evaluation. Morphological characterization does not require any expensive technology but their limitations are the dependence on the environmental condition and developmental stages of the plant. While the biochemical analysis gives their result through specific banding patterns by the separation of proteins. However, the resolution of diversity is restricted due to the availability of limited number of enzymes. In stark contrast, molecular assessments could be analyzed the variation by an assortment of DNA molecular. A molecular marker can be defined as a genomic locus, detected through probe or specific primers which, in virtue of its presence, distinguishes unequivocally the chromosomic trait which it represents as well as the flanking regions at the 3' and 5' extremity. It is not necessary a molecular marker to associate with the manifestation of a genetic trait into a phenotype. They are superior to traditional, phenotype-based assessements as they are stable and detectable in all tissues regardless of growth, differentiation, development, or defense status of the cell. Another important feature is that molecular markers are not disturbed by environmental, pleiotropic and epistatic factors (Mondini et al., 2009). These features of DNA-based markers mentioned above make them more superior and popular in studies of genetic diversity compared to other types of evaluation.

2.2.1. Morphological characterization

The first phylogenetic map of different accessions belonging to *Ocimum* genus (Chutia et al., 2016; Chowdhury et al., 2017), *O.* × *africanum* and *O. basilicum* (Makmur et al. 2020) is based on morphological features (leaf, stem and flower). The variability in quantitative morphological parameters may or may not correlate with their geographical distances (Chutia et al., 2016).

2.2.2. Biochemical analysis

Another parameter for *Ocimum* species classification is their aroma compound. Therefore, the determination of genetic diversity based on chemical composition of the essential oils in basil has been the subject of many studies since the early of 2000s (Carovic-Stanko et al., 2011a; De Masi et al., 2006; Kwee and Niemeyer, 2011; Labra et al., 2004; Varga et al., 2017). The dendrograms in these studies showed the relationships among different cultivars of *O. basilicum* based on essential oil content. Nowadays, over 140 compounds have been successfully identified in basil essential oil as a result of the development of analytical techniques throughout the years. The predominant groups in the essential oil of *O. basilicum* is monoterpenes and phenylpropanoids. The physical properties of the oil is determined largely by its proportions of different constituent substances. Different chemotypes have also been classified predominantly on their geographical origin, each with a specific chemical constitution. The European chemotype (Italy, France, Bulgaria) has high concentrations of linalool and methyl chavicol (estragole) while the eugenol-rich is a typical

chemotype from Russia and North Africa. The Tropical chemotype is defined by transmethyl cinnamate, which originate from India, Guatemala and Pakistan. The Reunion chemotype derived from Thailand, Madagascar and Vietnam is typified by methyl chavicol (Varga et al., 2017).

2.2.3. Molecular markers analysis

DNA markers are the foremost broadly utilized markers basically due to their plenitude. DNA marker techniques are used to reveal sequence differences among species or individuals within a species. Genetic differences among individuals in a species or population are usually as a consequence of abnormal pairing of sister chromosomes or recombination that rearranges the chromosomes, for example, insertions, deletions, inversions, translocation events, reduplication or any mistakes in DNA replication then being tandemly repeated (Yang et al., 2015). Evolution of molecular markers has been chiefly driven by the throughput and cost of detection method and the level of reproducibility. The hybridization-based method like RFLP used to be the most popular molecular marker in plant molecular genetics but the detection of RFLP requires big-budget, proficient technician and time to perform which made these markers ultimately obsolete (Mammadov et al, 2012). Invention of PCR technology and the application of this method for the rapid detection of polymorphisms overthrew low-throughput RFLP markers leading to the emergence of new generation of PCR-based markers in the beginning of nineties. RAPD, AFLP, and SSR markers are prevalent PCR-based markers that have been used in scientific researches on plant systems. RAPDs are able to simultaneously detect polymorphic loci in various regions of a genome. However, the non-specific binding of short, random primers is a main culprit of the indistinctive polymorphism and low reproducibility. Compared to RAPDs, AFLPs are non-specific too, in spite of that the level of their reproducibility and sensitivity is improved extensively due to the longer +1 and +3 selective primers and the presence of discriminatory nucleotides at 3' end of each primer. However, AFLP markers cannot be applied widely in molecular breeding due to their labor and time-consuming detection method, which was not amenable to automation either. In stark contrast, all limitations of the above-mentioned DNA marker technologies was eliminated in the application of SSR markers in plant genome. SSRs were no longer unspecified; they were highly reproducible, highly polymorphic, and amenable to automation (Amiteye, 2021).

The first researches on Ocimum taxonomy and phylogenetic relationship were implemented with Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD). By using 20 different random primers, Singh and his colleagues (2004) characterized 32 accessions belonging to five Ocimum species including O. basilicum L. (14 accessions), (14)L. *O.teniuflorum* L. accessions). *O.gratissimum* (2accessions). O.kilimandscharicum Guerke (1 accession) and O. americanum L. (1 accession). According to De Masi et al. (2006), the seven RAPD markers used showed the degree of polymorphism to 57.5% (23 polymorphic bands out 40 bands scored) on 12 accessions belonging nine cultivars of *Ocimum basilicum* L. in Italy.

The Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism (AFLP) technique was used to analyze the genetic distances of nine different accession of *O. basilicum* L. (Labra et al., 2004), 120 *Ocimum* accessions belonging to five species and varieties named: *Ocimum ciliatum*, *Ocimum minimum*, *Ocimum basilicum* var. *purpurascens*, *O. basilicum* var. *dianatnejadii* and *O. basilicum* var. *alba* (Moghaddam et al., 2011).

The Inter Simple Sequence Repeat (ISSR) technique was used to determine genetic diversity of 50 Iranian basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) accessions (Aghaei et al., 2012) and 14 cultivars belonging seven different species of *Ocimum* (Kumar et al., 2016).

Various random, non-specific marker techniques were applied to identify the taxonomy and phylogenetic relationship of *Ocimum* genus. Although each of them is demonstrated to be an efficient tool for genetic diversity between a wide range of accessions belonging to *O. basilicum* L. and between various species of *Ocimum* genus. The limitations of non-specific markers are low reproducibility and low repeatability. It means that the gel electrophoresis banding pattern depends on the random amplified products and may be different in the repeated experiments. All of them is dominant marker which cannot distinguish between homologous and heterologous individuals.

2.2.4. SSR marker

Simple-sequence repeats (SSRs), also known as microsatellites, are short tandem repeated motifs that may vary in the number of repeats at a given locus (Tautz, 1989). SSR markers have many advantages over other molecular markers, such as genetic co-dominance. They are multi-allelic, relatively abundant, widely dispersed across the genome, and easily and automatically scored (Powell et al., 1996). The number of

repetition units varies greatly among plant species. The repetition sequence is usually simple, consisting of two, three or four nucleotides, also known as di-, tri- and tetranucleotide, respectively, in which, the most abundant repeats found in most of the eukaryotes is dinucleotide repeats (e.g. $(CA)_n$ and $(GA)_n$) (Fan and Chu, 2007). The flanking regions tend to be conserved within species, although sometimes they can also be preserved at a higher taxonomic level. The principle of SSR marker is shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Principle of microsatellite (SSR marker) (http://www.cdfd.org.in/2010/10/12/ analysis-of-simple-sequence-repeats-(ssr)).

2.2.5. SSR markers used in genetic diversity analysis of Ocimum sp.

Thanks to the advancement in genome sequencing and molecular marker technique, the Simple Sequence Repeat (SSR) markers from expressed sequence tags (ESTs) databases was developed to analyze genetic diversity different accessions belonging to four species of *Ocimum* genus (Mahajan et al., 2015) and 180 *Ocimum* spp. accessions (Pyne et al., 2018). In comparison with other markers, SSR markers have advantageous features including abundant genomic distribution, high levels of allelic polymorphisms, co-dominant mode of inheritance and high reproducibility (Kalia et al., 2010). In addition, SSR markers derived from non-coding regions show polymorphism at cultivar level while genic-SSRs (EST-SSRs), derived

from coding sequences, are polymorphic across species (Scott et al., 2000). Phylogenetic analysis revealed that *O. basilicum* was genetically closer to two accession of *O. canum* (Oc I and Oc II) while *O. gratissimum, O. viride* and two accessions from a species belonging to Lamiaceae family - *Hyptis suaveolens* (Hs I and Hs II) clustered together (Mahajan et al., 2015). According to Pyne et al. (2018), multivariate analysis of the genetic similarity data grouped accessions belonging to *Ocimum* spp. into three major clusters. In general, the first cluster was demonstrated lower genetic diversity due to the majority of accessions belonging to *Ocimum basilicum* while the accessions of second cluster derived from *O. basilicum, O. citriodorum* or *O. americanum*. The accessions of third cluster mainly belong to *O. americanum, O. kilidmandsharicum, O. x africanum, O. basilicum*, in which several of them from seed companies and USDA-GRIN are phenotypically indistinguishable sources.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Plant materials

Leaves of 28 genotypes and cultivars of *Ocimum* originating from different parts of the world were evaluated in the experiment. Fresh plant material derived from the genebanks of MATE Institute of Horticulture, Department of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants and Center for Ecological Research, Lendület Seed Ecology Research Group (Table 1). Leaves were directly used for DNA isolation.

3.2. DNA extraction

The DNA isolation from leaf samples (approx. 1-2 pieces) was done by NucleoSpin Plant II DNA kit (Macherey-Nagel, Germany) using manufacturer's recommendations. Nano Drop ND- 1000 spectrophotometer (Bioscience, Budapest, Hungary) was used to verify DNA concentration and quality parameters. Isolated DNA was stored at -20°C in the Dept. of Genetics and Plant Breeding until used. Some cultivars were duplicated in the experiment as a control.

3.3. SSR primers

A set of 13 SSR primers pairs (four *Salvia spp.* primer pairs) were used for assessing genetic diversity and were selected based on previous study performed. Primer sequences are shown in Table 2. The forward primers were fluorescently labelled with 6-FAM.

3.4. PCR (Polymerase Chain Reaction)

PCR amplifications were performed in a Swift MaxPro thermocycler (Esco Healthcare Pte, Singapore) using the program SSR with the following cycling parameters: initial denaturation at 98°C for 4 min; followed by 35 cycles of 98°C for 30 s, 50°C for 40 s, 72°C for 60 s; and a final synthesis at 72°C for 5 min. Amplifications were performed in final reaction volume of 15 μ l with 1 μ l DNA sample, 5X PCR buffer, 0.4 μ l 1% of DMSO, 0.3 μ mol of each 5' and 3' end primers and 0.3 μ l Phire Hot Start polymerase (Thermo Scientific, Szeged, Hungary) and dNTP and sterile distilled.

| Code | Species | Cultivar or accession name |
|------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| S 8 | Ocimum basilicum | Vietnamise |
| S 9 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Mittelgroßblättriges Grünes' |
| S10 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Cinnamum' |
| S15 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Dark Opal' |
| S16 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Fine Verde' |
| S17 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Anisse' |
| S20 | Ocimum basilicum | Thai long |
| S21 | Ocimum americanum | Togo basil |
| S23 | Ocimum basilicum | Licorice scent |
| S24 | Ocimum americanukm | Lemon basil |
| V1 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Purple Ruffles' |
| V2 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Red Rubin' |
| V3 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Rubin Kaira' (Stavia) |
| V4 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Fine Verde Compacto' |
| V5 | Ocimum africanum | Tulsi Temperate |
| V6 | Ocimum basilicum | Mrihani |
| V7 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Aromatto' |
| V15 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Barhat' |
| V17 | O. tenuiflorum | Rama Tulsi |
| V18 | Ocimum gratissimum | Tulsi Vana |
| V20 | O. africanum | Penang Lemon (Pinang) |
| V22 | Ocimum basilicum | 'Raspberry Muscat' |
| V23 | Ocimum basilicum | (Fioletovij) 'Karlik' |
| V24 | Ocimum basilicum var. thyrsiflorum | 'Siam Queen' |
| V25 | O. sanctum/tenuiflorum? | 'Holy' |
| V26 | <i>Ob/O. x citriodorum??</i> | 'Spicy Globe' |
| S26 | Ocimum basilicum | Iranian lemon |
| S22 | Ocimum basilicum | Clove Scent |

Table 1. Names and codes of the studied Ocimum accessions.

3.5. Electrophoresis

The verification of PCR products was done by Agarose Gel Electrophoresis (AGE). The amplified products were loaded on 1% ethidium-bromide stained agarose Tris-Borate-EDTA (TBE) gels and run for 30-40 minutes at 80 Volts. To determine size and quality of DNA products a 100bp DNA ladder was used (Fermentas, Szeged, Hungary). UV transilluminator was used to photograph the separated DNA samples under the Gel documentation system.

| Primer codes | Forward and reverse primer | Repeat | References |
|--------------|----------------------------|---|----------------|
| | sequence | motif | |
| OB158 | CAGCTGAGTATTTCAAGGGG | Not known | |
| | TCTCCGGACTGTAGTGTGTG | | _ |
| OB174 | CCTTTAGACCTCGCAAGAGA | Not known | |
| | GTTTGGTAGAGATGGGCAGA | NOT KHOWH | Mahajan et al. |
| OB181 | CACCCTTGTTCACCCTATCA | Not known | (2015) |
| | CCCTAAAATTGGGGGAACC | NOT KHOWH | |
| OB212 | GAGAAGCTGGGTCCTATTGA | Not known | |
| | AATGGTAATCGGCTCCCT | NOT KHOWH | |
| OBNJR2sg04 | ACGATATGAGACATGGGCCT | $(\mathbf{C} \mathbf{A})$ | |
| | CGCAGGTACAAGCTTCTCAA | (GA)]7 | |
| OBNJR2sg30 | GCCAAATAATTCCTATCCGGT | (AG) ₂₂ | |
| | CTTGGCTTTGGGAGATTCAC | | |
| OBNJR2sg33 | GCCTCTCCCTCCATAAC | $(\Lambda C)_{i}$ | Pyne et al. |
| | AGGCGACGAGCATGAAGTAG | (AC)16 | (2018) |
| OBNJR3sg145 | GGAAATGTGGTCGTTATTCACA | $(\mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{T})_{\mathbf{c}}$ | |
| | CCAAAGGAAGCGACAATGAT | $(UC1)_8$ | _ |
| OBNJR3cn240 | AACACACAAAGATCCAAACCC | | - |
| | TTATTTCCCAACCCACTACCA | (AIA)16 | |
| LAB008 | AGTATTTGTGCCGAGGGTTG | $(\mathbf{TC})_{\mathbf{r}}$ | |
| | ACAGGAAAGGGAGAGGGAGA | $(1C)_{15}$ | |
| LAB029 | AATTCGGCACGAGGTAACAC | (CCA) | - |
| | TGGGGAAATCGGGTATGAC | (GCA)7 | Karaca et al. |
| LAB030 | TGCCTCGACTACTATTGAGCGTA | $(\mathbf{C}\mathbf{A})$ | (2013) |
| | GTGTCTTATTTCTTCGTGGGTCA | $(CA)_{10}$ | (_0.20) |
| LAB042 | TCGGCACGAGGTATCAGTCT | $(\mathbf{T}\mathbf{C})$ | - |
| | CCAGTTCCTCACCGACACTT | $(1C)_{10}$ | |

Table 2. The name and sequence of the applied SSR primer pairs.

3.6. Fragment length analysis

Fragment length analysis was done by capillary electrophoresis where amplified SSR fragments were run on an automated sequencer ABI PRISM 3100 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Budapest, Hungary) at Biomi Ltd. (Gödöllő, Hungary). Fragment length determination was done by a Peak Scanner software 1.0 (Applied Biosystems 2006) manually. Results were collected in MS Excel.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Markers OB212, OB181, OB174, LAB008, LAB029, LAB030, LAB042

In the beginning all SSR markers were tested on a restricted number of ten basil genotypes, to see if amplification was successful and amplified SSR alleles were polymorphic. The allele sizes are summarized in Table 3. As it can be seen from the table, OB212, LAB008 and LAB030 were monomorphic, resulting one homozygous allele in all samples. OB174 and LAB042 resulted two kinds of alleles, while OB181 resulted three. LAB029 also resulted two allele sizes and an additional out of the expected range. Due to the low polymorphism we decedied to not work further with these markers.

Table 3. The allele sizes of different basil samples with primer OB212, OB181,

| Expected size | OB212 | OB181 | OB174 | LAB008 | LAB029 | LAB030 | LAB042 |
|---------------|--------------|----------|----------|--------|-------------------|--------|----------|
| Code | 452 | 373 | 398 | 134 | 232 | 210 | 246 |
| S 8 | 151 | 480 | 389; 391 | 346 | $\mathbf{\nabla}$ | 267 | 282 |
| S 9 | 151 | 464; 477 | 389 | 346 | 279 | 267 | 282, 292 |
| S10 | 151 | 480 | 391 | 346 | 212 | | 282, 292 |
| S15 | 151 | 480 | 391 | 346 | 279 | 267 | 282, 292 |
| S16 | 151 | 464; 477 | 389 | 346 | 279 | | 282, 292 |
| S17 | 151 | 464, 480 | 389 | 346 | | | |
| S20 | | 480 | | | | | |
| S21 | 151 | 480 | 389 | 346 | 279, 348 | 267 | 282, 292 |
| S23 | 151 | | 1 | | | | |
| S24 | 151 | 456, 481 | 389 | 346 | 212, 279 | 267 | 282, 292 |
| | | | | | | | |

OB174, LAB008, LAB029, LAB030, LAB042

4.1.1. Markers OB212, OB181, OB174

The basil primer pairs (OB212, OB181, OB174) were designed from the expressed sequence tags (ESTs) databases of *Ocimum basilicum* (Mahajan et al., 2015). According to Scott et al. (2000), SSR markers derived from non-coding regions show polymorphism at cultivar level while genic-SSRs (EST-SSRs), derived from coding sequences, are polymorphic across species. On the other hand, the EST-SSR primers are designed from the flanking regions of genic SSRs, which are conserved even at genus level. This enabling the use of EST-SSRs markers for comparative analysis.

In terms of OB212, the amplified allele size was significantly lower than the expected product size as the original paper mentioned. In addition, the amplification products only showed the homologous allele size in nine basil samples. This result just

demonstrated that tested samples belong to the *Ocimum* genus but could not showed the genetic variation among different basil species.

In case of OB181, the amplified allele sizes were significantly lower than the expected product size as the original paper mentioned. Among nine out of ten samples giving the amplified products, the polymorphism was illustrated in four basil samples (S9, S16, S17 and S24). Interestingly, the fragment sizes identified from amplification product of S24 – Lemon basil are different from other tested basil samples. This could be because this samples belong to *Ocimum americanum* while the majority of tested basil samples are members of *Ocimum basilimum* except for S21 – Togo basil. Figure 4 illustrates the chromatogram of S17 - 'Anisse' with marker OB181

In terms of OB174, the amplified allele sizes were approximately similar to the expected product size as the original paper mentioned. Among eight out of ten samples giving the amplified products, the polymorphism was illustrated in all of them with two fragment sizes at 389 and 391 basepairs (bp).

 S17_B#_G06.fsa
 Type: Sample
 SQ: 0.81

 0
 100
 200
 300
 400
 500
 600

 20000
 1000
 100
 100
 100
 100
 100

 10000
 1000
 100
 100
 100
 100

Figure 4. Example of the fragment length analysis of sample S17 - 'Anisse' with marker OB181.

4.1.2. Markers LAB008, LAB029, LAB030, LAB042

According to Karaca et al. (2013), primer pairs (LAB008, LAB029, LAB030, LAB042) were designed from the expressed sequence tags (ESTs) databases of three *Salvia spp.* (*S. fruiticosa, S. miltiorrhiza* and *S. sclarea*), which are members of Lamiaceae family. In the original paper, EST-SSR markers also were used for the amplification of different genera of Lamiaceae family including *Ocimum* species. In the experiment of investigation of the cross-genera transferability of microsatellite markers, nine primer pairs could produce amplified products with the *Ocimum basilicum*. That is why primer pairs (LAB008, LAB029, LAB030, LAB042) were decided to used with selected basil samples.

In terms of LAB008, LAB030 and LAB042, the amplified products resulted significantly higher allele sizes than the expected product size as the original paper mentioned. In addition, the amplification products only showed the homologous allele

size in all tested basil samples. This result just demonstrated that tested samples belong to the *Ocimum* genus but could not showed the genetic variation among different basil species. Figure 5 illustrate the chromatogram of S24 - Lemon basil with marker LAB030.

In case of LAB029, the amplified allele sizes were higher than the expected product size as the original paper mentioned. Among six out of ten samples giving the amplified products, the polymorphism was illustrated in three basil samples (S10, S21 and S24). The polymorphic microsatellites are present in two cultivars (S21 and S24) of *O. americanum* while S10- 'Cinnamum' belongs to *O. basilicum*.



Figure 5. Example of the fragment length analysis of sample S24 - Lemon basil with marker LAB030.

4.2. Marker OB158

OB158 was the first primer pair that we tested with most of the basil samples. In the first trial, the amplification was successfully performed in 25 out of 39 tested samples (Figure 6-A). Those DNA samples which did not give any amplification were repeatedly used in a following PCR. At the second time, most of the remaining samples (S17 and S20) also showed amplification (Figure 6-B).

In each sample more than two fragment sizes were identified. Evaluating all fragment sizes we identified the non-polymorphic sizes, we eliminated them, and hence we attempted identification of the true microsatellite alleles. The filtered allele sizes are summarized in Table 4.



Figure 6. Gel photos of all trials of OB158.

Primer pair OB158 was designed from the EST databases of *O.basilicum* (Mahajan et al., 2015). The amplified products i.e. the allele sizes were in the range lower than the expected product size as the original paper mentioned. The polymorphism was illustrated in 10 basil samples (S20, S21, S24, V2, V5, V6, V18, V20 V23 and V26) with four fragment sizes at 129, 130, 131 and 132. Interestingly, only four of them (S20, V2, V6 and V23) are members of *O. basilicum* while S21 and S24 belong to *O. americanum*. Samples V5 and V20 are *O. africanum* cultivars whereas V18 is included in *O. gratissimum*. V26 is probably one of *Ob/O. x citriodorum* cultivars. However, the differences between four identified fragment sizes only 1-2 bp. The polymorphic microsatellites only showed in a just over one-third among 28 basil samples tested. It is concluded from the length analysis that the polymorphism with specific primer pair OB158 is not likely to be enough to demonstrate the genetic variation among tested basil samples. Figure 7 illustrates the chromatogram of S26 - Iranian lemon with marker OB158.



Figure 7. Example of the fragment length analysis of sample S26 - Iranian lemon with marker OB158.

4.3. Marker OBNJR3cn240

Amplification was successfully performed in most of samples for the first trial (Figure 8). Those DNA samples which did not give any amplification were repeatedly used in a following PCR. At the second and third time, most of the remaining samples (S20, V6, V22 and S22) also showed clear bands. Sample V18 showed very faint band in all trials, hence the fragment length analysis was not successful for this sample.



Figure 8. Gel photos of the PCR products with five basil samples of OBNJR3cn240.

In course of the fragment length analysis, more than two fragment sizes were identified in each sample. Evaluating all fragment sizes we identified the non-polymorphic sizes, we eliminated them, and hence we attempted identification of the true microsatellite alleles. The filtered allele sizes are summarized in Table 4.

By using NCBI-EST database, primer pair OBNJR3cn240 was designed from the Contig2142 (Pyne et al., 2018). Half of the amplification products give 11 allele sizes in the expected product range as the original paper mentioned. The remaining samples gives the polymorphic alleles at 187, 195, 197, 201, 204, 218, 245, 248 basepairs. This could be because *Ocimum* species extraction used in this study are different from those used in Pyne et al. (2018) research. In addition, there are 2-4 allele sizes which were identified in each amplified product except for S21, V5, V7 and S22. Both V7 and S22 are members of *O. basilicum* while S21 and V5 belong to *O. americanum* and *O. africanum*, respectively. Although the polymorphic microsatellites were identified in nearly all of the basil samples tested but the removal of non-polymorphic microsatellites is difficult in several amplified products (S15, S16, S17, V22, V24 and V25) for further statistical analysis. Figure 9 illustrates the chromatogram of V22 - 'Raspberry Muscat' with marker OBNJR3cn240.

| Code | Expected allele size | OB158 | OBNJR3cn240 | |
|------------|----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------|
| | Name | 148 | 254-370 | Filtered allele sizes |
| S 8 | Vietnamise | 130 | 197; 269; 272; 275; 278 | 272; 275 |
| S9 | 'Mittelgroßblättriges Grünes' | 130 | 269; 272 | 269; 272 |
| S10 | 'Cinnamum' | 130 | 197; 269; 272; 275 | 269; 272 |
| S15 | 'Dark Opal' | 130 | 195; 260; 263; 266 | 260; 263; 266 |
| S16 | 'Fine Verde' | 130 | 195; 245; 248; 260; 263; 266 | 245; 248; 260; 263 |
| S17 | 'Anisse' | 130 | 195; 296; 299; 302; 305 | 296; 299; 302 |
| S20 | Thai long | 130; 132 | 195; 251; 254; 257; 290; 293; 296 | 254; 293 |
| S21 | Togo basil | 129; (131) | 182; 187; 195 | 195 |
| S23 | Licorice scent | 130 | 195; 204 | 195; 204 |
| S24 | Lemon basil | 132 | 187; 218 | 187; 218 |
| V1 | 'Purple Ruffles' | 130 | 197; 257; 260; 263; 266 | 260; 263 |
| V2 | 'Red Rubin' | 130; 132 | 197; 260; 263; 266 | 260; 263 |
| V3 | 'Rubin Kaira' (Stavia) | 130 | 197; 245; 248; 251; 299; 302; 305 | 245; 248 |
| V4 | 'Fine Verde Compacto' | 130 | 197; 263; 266; 269; 272 | 263; 266 |
| V5 | Tulsi Temperate | 130; 132 | 185; 190; 199; 201; 204; 207 | 204 |
| V6 | Mrihani | 130; 132 | 195; 269; 272 | 269; 272 |
| V7 | 'Aromatto' | 130 | 204 | 204 |
| V15 | 'Barhat' | 130 | 195; 278; 281; 284; 287; 290 | 281; 284 |
| V17 | Rama Tulsi | 130 | 269; 272 | 269; 272 |
| V18 | Tulsi Vana | 130; 132 | | |
| V20 | Penang Lemon | 130; 132 | 185; 191; 198; 201; 204 | 201; 204 |
| V22 | 'Raspberry Muscat' | 130 | 195; 260; 263; 299; 302 | 260; 263; 299; 302 |
| V23 | 'Karlik' | 130; (131) | 195; 257; 260; 263; 266 | 260; 263 |
| V24 | 'Siam Queen' | 130 | 195; 296; 299; 302; 305 | 296; 299; 302 |
| V25 | 'Holy' | 130 | 197; 201; 204; 207; 248; 251 | 204; 248; 251 |
| V26 | 'Spicy Globe' | 130; 132 | 195; 204 | 195; 204 |
| S26 | Iranian lemon | 130 | 185; 191; 197; 201; 204 | 197; 204 |
| S22 | Clove Scent | 130 | 195 | 195 |

| Table 4. The allele sizes of different basil samples with marker OB158 and OBNJR3cn240. |
|---|
|---|



Figure 9. Example of the fragment length analysis of sample V22 - 'Raspberry Muscat' with marker OBNJR3cn240.

4.4. Markers OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30, OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg145

Amplification was successfully performed in most of samples for the first time trial (Figure 10). Those DNA samples which didn't give any amplification were repeatedly used in the PCR procedure.

In course of the fragment length analysis, more than two fragment sizes were identified in each sample. Evaluating all fragment sizes we identified the non-polymorphic sizes, we eliminated them, and hence we attempted identification of the true microsatellite alleles. The filtered allele sizes are summarized in Table 5. (primer OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30) and Table 6. (primer OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg145).

In terms of OBNJR2sg04, in several basil samples, allele sizes (231; 241; 247; 255 and 259 bp) were probably microsatellite but we eliminated them because they were not in the expected range compared to the original paper. The appearance of allele sizes was not in range the expected allele size since basil samples used in our study was different from basil cultivars used in original paper.



Figure 10. The gel photos of the amplified products of OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30, OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg145.

By using NCBI-EST database, primer pair OBNJR2sg04 was designed from the genebank item DY343638 (Pyne et al., 2018). The amplification products i.e. eight allele sizes were in the expected product range as the original paper mentioned. The

allele sizes that are not in the expected range include the five microsatellites at 231; 241; 247; 255 and 259 basepairs. This could be because *Ocimum* species extraction used in this study are different from those used in Pyne et al. (2018) research. In addition, there are 2-6 allele sizes which were identified in each amplified product. Moreover, the microsatellite at 267 bp was identified in nearly all of the amplified products except for V17 – Rama tulsi, which belongs to *O. tenuiflorum*. It is concluded from the length analysis that the polymorphism with specific primer pair OBNJR2sg04 probably an appropriate SSR marker for the diversity assessment among basil species. Figure 11. illustrates the chromatogram of S21 - Togo basil with marker OBNJR2sg04.



Figure 11. Example of the fragment length analysis of sample S21 - Togo basil with marker OBNJR2sg04.

By using NCBI-EST database, primer pair OBNJR2sg30 was designed from the genebank item DY336727. The amplification products i.e. 19 allele sizes were in the range lower than the expected product size as the original paper mentioned. This could be because *Ocimum* species extraction used in this study are different from those used in Pyne et al. (2018) research. The polymorphism was illustrated in nearly all of amplified products except for V17 – Rama tulsi, which belongs to *O. tenuiflorum*. It is concluded from the length analysis that the polymorphism with specific primer pair OBNJR2sg30 probably an appropriate SSR marker for the diversity assessment among basil species. Figure 12. illustrates the chromatogram of V7 – 'Aromatto' with marker OBNJR2sg30.



Figure 12. Example of the fragment length analysis of sample V7 – 'Aromatto' with marker OBNJR2sg30.

Table 5. The allele sizes of different basil samples with marker OBNJR2sg04 and OBNJR2sg30.

| | Expected allele | Expected allele OBNJR2sg04 | | OBNJR2sg30 | | |
|------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------------|---|-----------------------|--|
| Code | sizes Name | 268-357 | Filtered allele sizes | 241-279 | Filtered allele sizes | |
| S 8 | Vietnamise | 267; 280 | 267; 280 | 186; 190; 194 | 186; 190 | |
| S9 | 'Mittelgroßblättriges Grünes' | 267; 292 | 267; 292 | 186; 198; 208 | 186; 198; 208 | |
| S10 | 'Cinnamum' | 267; 290; 292 | 267; 292 | 196; 215 | 196; 215 | |
| S15 | 'Dark Opal' | 267; 285 | 267; 284 | 206 | 206 | |
| S16 | 'Fine Verde' | 267; 280; 288 | 267; 280; 288 | 186; 192; 210; 218 | 186; 210 | |
| S17 | 'Anisse' | 241; 255; 259; 267; 280 | 267; 280 | 189; 194 | 189; 194 | |
| S20 | Thai long | 267; 280; 286; 288 | 267; 280; 288 | 186; 190; 215 | 186; 190 | |
| S21 | Togo basil | 241; 255; 259; 267; 280 | 267; 280 | 172; 178 | 172; 178 | |
| S23 | Licorice scent | 267; 286; 288 | 267; 288 | 184; 186; 211; 214 | 186; 214 | |
| S24 | Lemon basil | 267; 269; 280 | 267; 280 | 178; 200 | 178; 200 | |
| V1 | 'Purple Ruffles' | 242; 267; 286; 288 | 267; 288 | 153; 184; 215 | 186; 215 | |
| V2 | 'Red Rubin' | 242; 259; 267; 288 | 267; 288 | 154; 174; 194; 214 | 194; 214 | |
| V3 | 'Rubin Kaira' (Stavia) | 267; 280; 288 | 267; 280; 288 | 186; 215 | 186; 215 | |
| V4 | 'Fine Verde Compacto' | 267; 278; 280 | 267; 280 | 153; 194; 215; 219 | 194; 215 | |
| V5 | Tulsi Temperate | 241; 259; 267; 274 | 267; 274 | 153; 196; 198; 200; 214 | 200; 214 | |
| V6 | Mrihani | 241; 255; 259; 267; 290; 292 | 267; 292 | 153; 192; 194; 196; 215 | 196; 215 | |
| V7 | 'Aromatto' | 241; 255; 267 | 267; 290 | 153; 186; 194; 213 | 186; 194 | |
| V15 | 'Barhat' | 241; 267; 280; 288 | 267; 288 | 153; 192; 210 | 192; 210 | |
| V17 | Rama Tulsi | 231; 290 | 290 | 153 | 153 | |
| V18 | Tulsi Vana | 241; 255; 259; 267 | 267 | 1 5 3; 184; 192; 194; 204 | 184; 192; 204 | |
| V20 | Penang Lemon | 267; 269; 280 | 267; 280 | 153; 178; 198; 200 | 178; 200 | |
| V22 | 'Raspberry Muscat' | 241; 255; 259; 267; 282 | 267; 282 | 153; 184; 189 | 184 | |
| V23 | 'Karlik' | 241; 255; 259; 267; 285 | 267; 284 | 153; 206; 212 | 206 | |

| | Expected allele | OBNJR2 | sg04 | OBNJR | 2sg30 |
|------|-----------------|----------------|-----------------------------|----------------|--------------------------|
| Code | sizes Name | 268-357 | Filtered allele sizes | 241-279 | Filtered allele sizes |
| V24 | 'Siam Queen' | 241; 247; 255; | 267; 280 | 152; 189; 194 | 189; 194 |
| | | 259; 267; 280 | | | |
| V25 | 'Holy' | 247; 259; 267 | 267 | 153; 194; 214 | 194; 214 |
| V26 | 'Spicy Globe' | 241; 255; 259; | 267; 280 | 153; 192; 210 | 192; 210 |
| | | 267; 278; 280 | | | |
| S26 | Iranian lemon | 263; 267; 280 | 267; 280 | 153; 198; 202; | 202 |
| | | | | 206 | |
| S22 | Clove Scent | 267; 280; 290; | 267; | 153; 186; 190; | 186; 215 |
| | | 292 | 280; 292 | 215 | |

By using NCBI-EST database, primer pairs OBNJR2sg33 and OBNJR3sg145 were designed from the genebank items DY333933 and DY328393, respectively. In terms of OBNJR2sg33, the amplification products i.e. 14 allele sizes were in the range lower than the expected product size as the original paper mentioned. The amplification with marker OBNJR3sg145 gave the polymorphism at 9 fragment sizes, which was lower than the expected product size. This could be because Ocimum species extraction used in this study is different from those used in Pyne et al. (2018) research. In course of OBNJR2sg33, there are 2-6 allele sizes which were identified in each amplified product except for V18 - Tulsi Vana belonging to Ocimum gratissimum. Although the polymorphic microsatellites were identified in nearly all of thebasil samples tested but the removal of non-polymorphic microsatellites is difficult in several amplified products (e.g. V20 and S26 with both primer pairs) for further statistical analysis. It could be concluded that the use of both markers OBNJR2sg33 and OBNJR3sg145 for the diversity evaluation is not appropriate to apply for all types of Ocimum species. Figure 13. and 14. illustrate the chromatogram of V1 – 'Purple Ruffles' with marker OBNJR2sg33 and V23 - 'Karlik' with marker OBNJR3sg145, respectively.



Figure 13. Example of the fragment length analysis of sample V1 – 'Purple Ruffles' with marker OBNJR2sg33.

| Table 6. The allele sizes of different basil samples with marker OBNJR2sg33 and | |
|---|--|
| OBNJR3sg145. | |

| | Expected allele | ted allele OBNJR2sg33 | | OBNJR3sg145 | | |
|------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------------|--------------------------|--|
| Code | Name | 271-299 | Filtered allele sizes | 271-313 | Filtered allele sizes | |
| S 8 | Vietnamise | 195; 217; 221; 230 | 217; 230 | 217; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| S9 | 'Mittelgroßblättriges Grünes' | 195; 219; 230 | 219; 230 | 217; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| S10 | 'Cinnamum' | 195; 217; 230 | 217; 230 | 217; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| S15 | 'Dark Opal' | 195; 217; 230 | 217; 230 | 217; 243 | 217; 243 | |
| S16 | 'Fine Verde' | 195; 210; 221; 230 | 210; 221; 230 | 217; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| S17 | 'Anisse' | 195; 221; 230 | 221; 230 | 217; 237; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| S20 | Thai long | 195; 219; 228 | 219; 228 | 217; 228; 237; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| S21 | Togo basil | 195; 208; 214; 217; 219 | 208; 219 | 215; 225; 234 | 215; 234 | |
| S23 | Licorice scent | 215; 217; 228; 230 | 217; 230 | 217; 237; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| S24 | Lemon basil | 195; 210; 219; 225; 233 | 210; 219 | 217; 221; 228 | 217; 221; 228 | |
| V1 | 'Purple Ruffles' | 195; 217; 230 | 217; 230 | 217; 240; 243 | 217; 243 | |
| V2 | 'Red Rubin' | 195; 217; 230; 232 | 217; 232 | 217; 240; 243 | 217; 243 | |
| V3 | 'Rubin Kaira' (Stavia) | 195; 210; 219; 221; 228; 230 | 210; 221; 230 | 217; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| V4 | 'Fine Verde Compacto' | 195; 219; 221; 228; 230 | 221; 230 | 217; 225; 237; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| V5 | Tulsi Temperate | 189; 195; 208; 219 | 210; 219 | 215; 233; 243 | 215; 233; 243 | |
| V6 | Mrihani | 195; 208; 215; 217; 228: 230 | 217; 230 | 215; 217; 221; 228; 237: 240 | 217; 221; 228; 240 | |
| V7 | 'Aromatto' | 215; 217; 228; 230 | 217; 230 | 217; 225; 240; 243 | 225; 240; 243 | |
| V15 | 'Barhat' | 195; 217; 228; 230 | 217; 230 | 217; 237; 240 | 217; 240 | |
| V17 | Rama Tulsi | 195; 205; 230; 236 | 205; 230; 236 | 215; 235; 240; 246 | 235; 246 | |
| V18 | Tulsi Vana | 215 | 215 | 217; 221; 235; 240; 243 | 221; 243 | |
| V20 | Penang Lemon | 195; 210; 217; 219; 225 | 210; 219; 225 | 217; 221; 225; 228 | 217; 221; 228 | |
| V22 | 'Raspberry Muscat' | 195; 215; 217 | 217 | 217; 240 | 217; 240 | |

| Code Expected allele | | OBNJR | 2sg33 | OBNJR3 | Bsg145 |
|------------------------------|---------------|---------------|--------------------------|---------------|--------------------------|
| | sizes Name | 271-299 | Filtered allele sizes | 271-313 | Filtered allele sizes |
| V23 | 'Karlik' | 195; 215; | 217; 230 | 217; 240; 243 | 217; 243 |
| | | 217; 228; 230 | | | |
| V24 | 'Siam Queen' | 195; 219; | 221; 230 | 217; 237; 240 | 217; 240 |
| | | 221; 228; 230 | | | |
| V25 | 'Holy' | 208; 219 | 208; 219 | 215; 217; 233 | 215; 233 |
| V26 | 'Spicy Globe' | 219; 221; | 208; 219 | 217; 237; 240 | 217; 240 |
| | | 230; 232 | | | \rightarrow V |
| S26 | Iranian lemon | 195; 210; | 210; 217; | 217; 221; | 217; 221; |
| | | 217; 225; 233 | 225 | 225; 240; 243 | 243 |
| S22 | Clove Scent | 195; 219; 230 | 219; 230 | 217; 237; 240 | 217; 240 |
| | | | | | |
| P145_V23#_M_C04.fsa | | | | Type: Sample | SQ: 0.81 |
| - | 100 2 | 00 300 | 400 | 500 600 | 700 |
| 30000 20000 10000 0 | hude | | | | |

Figure 14. Example of the fragment length analysis of sample V23 – 'Karlik' with marker OBNJR3sg145.



Figure 15. Gel photos of S23 with primer OB158, OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30, OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg145 and OBNJR3cn240.

Sample S23 showed very faint bands or did not show the bands in the gel photos in the first trial with the first three basil primers tested (OB158, OB174, OB181) and with four *Salvia spp.* primer tested (LAB08, LAB 29, LAB 30, LAB 42). It only showed clear bands with the trial of OB212. Therefore, when the other basil primers (OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30, OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg145 and OBNJR3cn240) were performed for the first trial, sample S23 was not included. Until when the primer OBNJR3cn240 was performed for the second trials, the S23 showed clear bands

amplification (Figure 15- C). Therefore, we decided to perform the S23 with other remaining primers (OB158, OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30, OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg145) (Figure 15- A, B).

In conclusion, the primer pairs (OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30) are probably appropriate SSR markers for the diversity assessment among basil genotypes. In addition, the use of markers OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg145 and OBNJR3cn240 for the diversity evaluation is not appropriate to apply for all types of *Ocimum* species due to the difficulty in removal of non-specific fragments. Markers OB174, OB181 and LAB042 should be tested with more basil genotypes before a conclusion could be made. The polymorphic microsatellites were identified only in one-third of the genotypes tested with OB158 so this marker is not likely to be suitable for the evaluation the genetic diversity among *Ocimum* genotypes and cultivars. OB212, LAB008 and LAB030 just gave the monomorphic alleles, which just demonstrated that tested samples belong to the *Ocimum* genus but could not showed the genetic variation among different basil species. Therefore, markers (OB212, LAB008 and LAB030) could not be used for analysis of genetic diversity for *Ocimum* genus.

SUMMARY

Hungarian University of Agriculture and Life Sciences Faculty of Horticultural Science

Department of Genetics and Plant Breeding

Vu Phan Thien Nga

EVALUATION OF BASIL SPECIFIC SSR MARKERS

MSc in Agricultural Biotechnology

The Ocimum genus is one of the most important herbs all over the world due to their economic value in foods and beverages as well as in aromatic industries. Basil is also a desirable medicinal cure due to their secondary metabolites present in it. The complexity in the genome sizes and chromosome numbers as well as the variety of morphological and chemical composition among different basil cultivars serve a catalyst as the inconsistency of taxonomical analysis for *Ocimum* genus. Therefore, genetic data could be a promising foundation for the more congruency in taxonomical analysis of *Ocimum* genus but very few published studies are done in its genetic diversity. EST-SSRs are a potential marker for genetic variation assessment due to their advantages. Hence, the present study aimed to identify the EST-SSR markers designed from previous researches that give the most efficient amplified products for evaluation the genetic diversity among *Ocimum* variants.

Thirteen SSR primer pairs (OB212, OB181, OB174, OB158, LAB008, LAB029, LAB030, LAB042, OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30, OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg145 and OBNJR3cn240) were chosen from previous studies designed for *Ocimum sp.* and *Salvia spp.* DNA was isolated from fresh leaves of 28 genotypes and cultivars of *Ocimum sp.* originating from different parts of the world. After successful DNA extraction, PCR amplification was performed in a Swift MaxPro thermocycler (Esco Healthcare Pte, Singapore). Agrose Gel Electrophoresis was used to verify PCR products. Determination of exact fragment length size was done by fragment length analysis, fragment sizes were determined by Peak Scanner software 1.0 (Applied Biosystems 2006) manually and results were collected in MS Excel.

94 alleles were produced in total with an average of 6.57 ranging from 3-13 alleles per locus with size ranged between (130-480 bp) where five markers (OB158, OBNJR2sg04, OBNJR2sg30, OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR3sg145) were successfully amplified in all genotypes. Primer pair OBNJR3cn240 has the amplification percentage as 96%. Seven primer pairs (OB212, OB181, OB174, LAB008, LAB029, LAB030 and LAB042) were tested on a restricted number of ten basil genotypes. The amplification percentage of OB212 and OB181 was 90% while that of OB174 and LAB008 was 80%. The amplification percentage for remaining primers is 70%. OBNJR2sg30 and

OBNJR3cn240 were the most informative as they showed high variability with 19 alleles followed by OBNJR2sg33, OBNJR2sg04 and OBNJR3sg145 with 14, 13 and 9 alleles, respectively.

In terms of number of alleles per sample, OBNJR2sg04 and OBNJR3sg145 resulted from two to six alleles while OBNJR2sg30 and OBNJR2sg33 produced from one to five microsatellite alleles. The amplified products with markers OB212, OB174, LAB008 and LAB030 produced only one allele size per sample while OB158, OB181, LAB029 and LAB042 produced from one to two alleles per sample. The range for OBNJR3cn240 was one to seven alleles per sample. In addition, OB212, LAB008 and LAB030 were monomorphic, resulting one homozygous allele in all samples while OB042 resulted two kinds of homologous alleles in all amplified products. OB174 resulted two kinds of alleles, which showed the polymorphism in all amplified products. In terms of OB181, three polymorphic alleles just appeared in four out of nine amplified products. LAB029 also resulted two allele sizes and an additional out of the expected range. OB158 resulted three polymorphic microsatellite alleles out of four created alleles, which was illustrated in one-third of amplified products. OBNJR2sg30 and OBNJR3cn240 showed the polymorphism in all amplified products with 19 polymorphic alleles. In terms of OBNJR2sg04, only one homozygous allele size was created at 267 bp. OBNJR2sg33 and OBNJR3sg145 resulted 14 and 9 heterozygous allele sizes in all amplified products.

Further statistical analysis cannot be performed due to the difficulty in the removal of non-specific fragment sizes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

In the accomplishment of this thesis work successfully, I would like to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to the following people

Primarily, I am greatly thankful to my supervisor, Dr. Zsuzsanna György who took me on as a student and guided and supported me over the years. My fully proven thesis was greatly improved by her thorough expertise and meticulous editing.

Secondly, I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Attila Hegedűs, head of the Department of Plant Biotechnology, and Dr. Júlia Halász for their insightful courses and lectures and support throughout my Master's program.

I also would like to thank my friends, who helping me and sharing all the special moments over the years of staying and studying in Hungary.

Thanks to the Stipendium Hungaricum Scholarship Program and the Department of International Cooperation -Vietnamese Ministry of Education and Training for providing me the financial supports.

Last but not the least, I am greatly grateful to my parents who always being with me. Their love and trust keep me motivated in the completion of my adventure.

REFERENCES

- Abou El-Soud, N. H., Deabes, M., Abou El-Kassem, L., Khali, M. 2015. Chemical composition and antifungal activity of *Ocimum basilicum* L. essential oil. Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences 3(3):374-379.
- Aghaei, M., Darvishzadeh, R., Hassani, A. 2012. Molecular characterisation and similarity relationships among Iranian basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) accessions using inter simple sequence repeat markers. Revista Ciência Agronômica, 43(2):312-320.
- Amiteye, S. 2021. Basic concepts and methodologies of DNA marker systems in plant molecular breeding. Heliyon 7e08093.
- Balakumar, S., Rajan, S., Thirunalasundari, T., Jeeva, S. 2011. Antifungal activity of Ocimum sanctum Linn. (Lamiaceae) on clinically isolated dermatophytic fungi. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine 654-657.
- Baliga, M. S., Jimmy, R., Thilakchand, K. R., Sunitha, V., Bhat, N. R., Saldanha, E., Rao, S., Rao, P., Arora, R., Palatty, P. L. 2013. *Ocimum sanctum* L (Holy Basil or Tulsi) and its phytochemicals in the prevention and treatment of cancer. Nutrition and Cancer 65.
- Carović-Stanko, K., Orlic', S., Politeo. O., Strikic', F., Kolak, I., Milos, M., Satovic, Z. 2010. Composition and antibacterial activities of essential oils of seven *Ocimum* taxa. Food Chemistry 19(1):196–201.
- Carovic'-Stanko, K., Liber, Z., Politeo, O., Strikic', F., Kolak, I., Milos, M., Satovic, Z. 2011. Molecular and chemical characterization of the most widespread *Ocimum* species. Plant Systematics and Evolution 294:253–262. DOI 10.1007/s00606-011-0471-x.
- 8. Chowdhury, T., Mandal, A., Roy, S. C., Sarker, D. D. 2017. Diversity of the genus *Ocimum* (Lamiaceae) through morpho-molecular (RAPD) and chemical (GC–MS) analysis. Journal of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology 15, 275-286.
 - Chutia, R., Borah, B. K., Modi, M. K., Sarmah, B. K. 2016. Population polymorphism study among Tulsi (*Ocimum sp.*) ecotypes in Assam, India using morphological and biochemical parameters. International Journal of Crop Science and Technology 2 (1) 32-44.

- De Masi, L., Siviero, P., Esposito, C., Castaldo, D., Siano, F., Laratta, B. 2006. Assessment of agronomic, chemical and genetic variability in common basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). European Food Research and Technology 223: 273–281 DOI 10.1007/s00217-005-0201-0.
- Dharsono, H. D A., Putri, S. A., Kurnia, D., Dudi, D., Satari, M. H. 2022. *Ocimum* species: A review on chemical constituents and antibacterial activity. Molecules, 27, 6350. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27196350.
- Fan, H. and Chu, J. Y. 2007. A brief review of short tandem repeat mutation. Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics. 5(1): 7-14. doi: 10.1016/S1672-0229(07)60009-6.
- Fu, Y.B. 2015. Understanding crop genetic diversity under modern plant breeding. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 128: 2131–2142.
- Jamshidi, N. and Cohen, M. M. 2017. The clinical efficacy and safety of tulsi in humans: A systematic review of the literature. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. Volume 2017, Article ID 9217567, 13 pages http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2017/9217567.
- 15. Kalia, R. K., Rai, M. K., Kalia, S., Singh, R., Dhawan, A. K. 2011. Microsatellite markers: an overview of the recent progress in plants. Euphytica (2011) 177:309–334, DOI 10.1007/s10681-010-0286-9.
- Kalita, J. and Khan, M. L. 2013. Commercial potentialities of essential oil of Ocimum members growing in North East India. International Journal of Pharmacy and Life Sciences (IJPLS) 4 (4): 2559-2567.
- Karaca, M., Ayse, G. I., Adnan, A., Saadet, T. A. 2013. Cross-genera transferable emicrosatellite markers for 12 genera of the Lamiaceae family. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 93: 1869–1879.
- 18. Kaya, I., Yiğit, N., Benli, M. 2008. Antimicrobial activity of various extracts of *Ocimum basilicum* L. and observation of the inhibition effect on bacterial cells by use of scanning electron microscopy. African Journal of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative Medicines 5 (4): 363 – 369.
- Khosla, M. K. 1995. Study of inter-relationship, phylogeny and evolutionary tendencies in genus *Ocimum*. Indian Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding 55 (1): 71-83.

- Kumar, A., Mishra, P., Baskaran, K., Shukla, A. K., Shasany, A. K., \ Sundaresan, V. 2016. Higher efficiency of ISSR markers over plastid psbA-trnH region in resolving taxonomical status of genus *Ocimum* L. Ecology and Evolution 6: 7671–7682, DOI: 10.1002/ece3.2483.
- Kumar, A., Shukla, A. K., Shasany, A. K., Sundaresan, V. 2018. Systematic position, phylogeny, and taxonomic revision of Indian *Ocimum*. In book: The *Ocimum* Genome (pp.61-72), Chapter: 5. Publisher: Springer, Cham.
- 22. Kwee, E. M. and Niemeyer, E. D. 2011. Variations in phenolic composition and antioxidant properties among 15 basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) cultivars. Food Chemistry 128(4):1044-1050.
- Labra, M., Miele, M., Ledda, B., Grassi, F., Mazzei, M., Sala, F. 2004. Morphological characterization, essential oil composition and DNA genotyping of *Ocimum basilicum* L. cultivars. Plant Science 167: 725–731.
- 24. Lee, J., Scagel, C. F. 2009. Chicoric acid found in basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) leaves. Food Chemistry 115: 650–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.12.075
- Mahajan, V., Rather, I. A., Awasthi, P., Anand, R., Gairola, S., Meena, S. R., Bedi, Y. S., Gandhi, S. G. 2015. Development of chemical and EST-SSR markers for *Ocimum* genus. Industrial Crops and Products 63: 65–70.
- 26. Makmur, K., Chikmawati, T., Sobir. 2020. Genetic variability of lemon basil (*Ocimum* × *africanum* Lour.) from Indonesia based on morphological characters and ISSR markers. B I O D I V E R S I T A S21 (12):5948-5953.
- 27. Makri, O. and Kintzios, S. 2008. *Ocimum* sp. (Basil): Botany, cultivation, pharmaceutical properties, and biotechnology. Journal of Herbs, Spices & Medicinal Plants, 13:3,123-150.
- Mammadov, J., Aggarwal, R., Buyyarapu, R., Kumpatla, S. 2012. SNP Markers and Their Impact on Plant Breeding. International Journal of Plant Genomics. PMID: 23316221
- Moghaddam M., Omidbiagi R., Naghavi, M. R. 2011. Evaluation of genetic diversity among Iranian accessions of *Ocimum spp.* using AFLP markers. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 39: 619–625, doi:10.1016/j.bse.2011.05.006.

- 30. Moghaddam, M., Alymanesh, M. R., Mehdizadeh, L., Hossein, M., Pirbalouti, A. G. 2014. Chemical composition and antibacterial activity of essential oil of *Ocimum ciliatum*, as a new source of methyl chavicol, against ten phytopathogens. Industrial Crops and Products 59: 144–148.
- Mondal, S., Mirdha, B. R., Mahapatra, S. C. 2009. The science behind sacredness of Tulsi (*Ocimum sanctum* Linn.). Indian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology 53 (4): 291–306.
- 32. Mondini, L., Noorani, A., Pagnotta, M. A. 2009. Assessing plant genetic diversity by molecular tools. Diversity 2009, 1, 19-35; doi: 10.3390/d1010019.
- 33. Morales, M.R., Charles, D.J., Simon, J.E. 1993 New aromatic lemon basil germplasm.In: J. Janick and J.E. Simon (eds.). New crops: 632-635.
- 34. Nation, R. G., Janick, J., Simon J. E. 1992. Estimation of outcrossing in basil. HORTSCIENCE 27(11):1221-1222.
- 35. Nguyen, C. H., Tran, T. K. N., Trieu, T. A., Le, X. T., Lam, T. D., Cang, M. H., Tran, T. T. H., Pham, N. D. Y. 2020. Physical and chemical profile of essential oil of Vietnamese *Ocimum gratissimum* L. IOP Conference Series Materials Science and Engineering 736(6):062010. doi:10.1088/1757-899X/736/6/062010.
- 36. Nguyen, N. H., Phan, N. D., Tran, T. T. T., Nguyen, B. V., Nguyen, T. N. L., Cang, H. M. 2022. Extraction essential oils from *Ocimum gratissimum* L., *Ocimum basilicum* L. and *Rosmarinus officinalis* L. cultivated in Vietnam using steam distillation method. Egyptian Journal of Chemistry 65(3): 171-177.
- 37. Paton, A. and Putievsky, E. 1996. Taxonomic problems and cytotaxonomic relationships between and within varieties of *Ocimum basilicum* and related species. Kew Bulletin 51(3): 1-16.
- 38. Paton, A., Harley, M. R., Harley, M. M. 1999. *Ocimum*: An overview of classification and relationships. In: Hiltunen R, Holm Y, editors. Basil: the genus *Ocimum*. Amersterdam: Harwood Academic Publishers: 1–38.
- Phippen, W. B., Simon, J. E. 1998. Anthocyanins in basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 46: 1734–8. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf970887r.

- 40. Powell W., Machray, G. C., Provan, J. 1996. Polymorphism revealed by simple sequence repeats. Trends in Plant Science 1, 215-222. doi: 10.1016/1360-1385(96)86898-1.
- Purushothaman, B., Srinivasan, R. P., Suganthi, P., Ranganathan, B., Gimbun, J., Shanmugam, K. 2018. A comprehensive review on *Ocimum basilicum*. Journal of Natural Remedies.
- 42. Pyne, R. M., Honig, J. A., Vaiciunas, J., Wyenandt, C. A., Simon, J. E. 2018. Population structure, genetic diversity and downy mildew resistance among *Ocimum* species germplasm. BMC Plant Biology 18: 69, doi: 10.1186/s12870-018-1284-7.
- 43. Radulovic N. S., Blagojevic P. D., Miltojevic A. B. 2013. α-Linalool marker compound of forged/synthetic sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) essential oils. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 93(13):3292-303. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.6175. PMID: 23584979.
- 44. Ramchiary, N., Nguyen, V. D., Li, X., Chang, P. H., Dhandapani, V., Choi, S. R., Yu, G., Piao, Z. Y., Lim, Y. P. 2011. Genic microsatellite markers in Brassica rapa: Development, characterization, mapping, and their utility in other cultivated and wild Brassica relatives. DNA Research 18(5): 305–320.
- 45. Ramanatha, R. V. and Hodgkin, T. 2002. Genetic diversity and conservation and utilization of plant genetic resources. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 68: 1–19.
- 46. Rastogi, S., Kalra, A., Gupta, V., Khan, F., Lal, R. K., Tripathi, A. K., Parameswaran, S., Gopalakrishnan, C., Ramaswamy, G., Shasany, A. K. 2015. Unravelling the genome of Holy basil: an "incomparable" "elixir of life" of traditional Indian medicine. BMC Genomics 16: 413.
- 47. Rindels, S. 1997. Basil. https://hortnews.extension.iastate.edu.
- Scott, K.D., Eggler, P., Seaton, G., Rossetto, M., Ablett, E.M., Lee, L.S., Henry, R.J.
 2000. Analysis of SSRs derived from grape ESTs. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 100: 723–726.
- 49. Simon, J. E., Morales, M. R., Phippen, W. B., Vieira, R. F, Hao, Z. 1999. Basil: A source of aroma compounds and a popular culinaryand ornamental herb. American Society for Horticultural Science Press. Alexandria, VA.

- 50. Singh, A. P., Dwivedi, S. Bharti, S. Srivastava, A., Singh, V., Khanuja, S.P.S. 2004. Phylogenetic relationships as in *Ocimum* revealed by RAPD markers. Euphytica 136: 11-20.
- 51. Singh, A. K. 2012. Seedling morphology of four species of *Ocimum* L. (Lamiaceae) and its taxonomic significance. Bangladesh Journal of Plant Taxonomy 19(1): 89-92.
- 52. Suddee, S., Paton, A. J., Parnell, J. A. N. 2005. Taxonomic revision of tribe Ocimeae Dumort. (Lamiaceae) in continental South East Asia III. Ociminae. The Board of Trustees of the Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew Bulletin, 60(1): 3-75.
- Sullivan, C. 2009. 09 in College Seminar 235 Food For Thought: The Science, Culture, & Politics of Food in Spring 2009. https://academics.hamilton.edu.
- 54. Tangpao, T., Charoimek, N., Teerakitchotikan, P., Leksawasdi, N., Jantanasakulwong, K., Rachtanapun, P., Seesuriyachan, P., Phimolsiripol, Y., Chaiyaso, T., Ruksiriwanich, W., Jantrawut, P., Doan, H. V., Cheewangkoon, R., Sommano, S. R. 2022. Volatile organic compounds from basil essential oils: plant taxonomy, biological activities, and their applications in tropical fruit productions. Horticulturae 8, 144. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae8020144.
- 55. Tautz, D. 1989. Hypervariability of simple sequences as a general source for polymorphic DNA markers. Nucleic Acids Research 17(16): 6463–6471. doi: 10.1093/nar/17.16.6463.
- 56. Uttar Pradesh State Biodiversity Board. *Ocimum africanum*: A new distributional record for Uttar Pradesh. https://www.upsbdb.org.
- 57. Yamani, H. A, Pang, E. C., Mantri, N., Deighton, M. A. 2016. Antimicrobial activity of Tulsi (*Ocimum tenuiflorum*) essential oil and their major constituents against three species of bacteria. Frontiers in Microbiology.
- 58. Yamasaki, K., Nakano, M., Kawahata, T., Mori, H., Otake, T., Ueba, N., Oishi, I., Inami, R., Yamane, M., Nakamura, M., Murata, H., Nakanishi, T. 1998. Anti-HIV-1 activity of herbs in Labiatae. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin. 21: 829–33. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.21.829 PMID: 9743251.
- 59. Yang, H. B., Kang, W. H., Nahm, S. H., Kang, B.C. 2015. Methods for developing molecular markers. Current Technologies in Plant Molecular Breeding. DOI 10.1007/978-94-017-9996-6_2.

DECLARATION

Me, as the undersigned Vu Phan Thien Nga (Code-Neptun: XRCLM3) declare, that the Diploma Thesis entitled Evaluation of basil specific SSR markers submitted on May, 2023 is my own intellectual property.

I hereby acknowledge that the presentation of my thesis in the Dean's Office according the shedule does not mean at the same time the acceptance of my dissertation from professional and content related aspects.

May 1, 2023, Budapest

signature of the student

STATEMENT

of origin and public access of the thesis

Author's name: Vu Phan Thien Nga

Title of the thesis: Evaluation of basil specific SSR markers.

Year of publication: 2023

Name of the Department: Department of Plant Biotechnology

I declare that the submitted thesis is the product of my personal, original work.

The submitted thesis is defended. It is a pdf document embossed with the name of the author. I authorise to survey and print thesis but not to compile it.

I take note that the electronic version of my thesis will be uploaded into the Archives of Thesis at Entz Ferenc Library and Archives.

The bibliography format of the thesis can be reached in Huntéka database of Entz Ferenc Library and Archives: http://opac.szie.hu/entzferenc/. The fulltext can be available only at the Buda Campus.

I take note that the copyright of the submitted thesis without embossment can be damaged.

The Statement is valid with giving data of thesis, I give it together with the digital version of the thesis.

May 1, 2023, Budapest

signature of the student

STATEMENT

of origin and public access of the thesis

Author's name: Vu Phan Thien Nga

Title of the thesis: Evaluation of basil specific SSR markers.

Year of publication: 2023

Name of the Department: Department of Plant Biotechnology

I declare that the submitted thesis is the product of my personal, original work.

My thesis is classified. Expiration of the encryption:....year......month.....day.

The submitted thesis is defended. It is a pdf document embossed with the name of the author.

I authorise limited to survey and print thesis but not to compile it.

I take note that the electronic version of my thesis will be uploaded into the Archives of Thesis at Entz Ferenc Library and Archives.

The bibliography format of the thesis can be reached in the OPAC of Entz Ferenc Library and Archives: http://opac.szie.hu/entzferenc/. The full text – with the expiration of the encryption – can be available solely at the Buda Campus from the Library OPAC.

I take note that the copyright of the submitted thesis without embossment can be damaged.

The Statement is valid with giving data of thesis, I give it together with the digital version of the thesis.

May 1, 2023, Budapest

signature of the student

STATEMENT ON CONSULTATION PRACTICES

As a supervisor of Vu Phan Thien Nga (Code-Neptun: XRCLM3), I here declare that the master's thesis has been reviewed by me, the student was informed about the requirements of literary sources management and its legal and ethical rules.

<u>I recommend</u>/don't recommend master's thesis to be defended in a final exam.

The document contains state secrets or professional secrets: yes \underline{no}^*

Place and date: Budapest, 28.04.2023.

beyou

Internal supervisor